ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment ofError

1. The trial court violated the defendant' s right to speedy trial under

CrR 3. 3 when it granted a state' s motion to continue the trial past the time for

speedy trial based upon the state' s belief that the defendant might not be

ready for trial after the court granted his motion to represent himself. 

2. The trial court erred when it admitted evidence of the defendant' s

custodial statements taken in violation of the defendant' s right to silence and

counsel under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 9 & § 22, and United

States Constitution, Fifth and Sixth Amendments. 

3. The trial court denied the defendant his right to counsel under

Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22 and United States Constitution, 

Sixth Amendment when it accepted a waiver of counsel that the defendant

did not knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently enter. 
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Issues Pertaining to Assignment ofError

1. Does a trial court violate a defendant' s right to speedy trial under

CrR 3. 3 if it grants a state' s motion to continue the trial past the time for

speedy trial based upon the state' s belief that the defendant might not be

ready for trial after the court granted his emotion to represent himself? 

2. During custodial interrogation, do the defendant' s statements

Talk to my attorney - I' m done," and " You guys need to talk to my lawyer

at this point," constitute invocations of a defendant' s right to counsel and the

right to consult with an attorney to the point that a trial court' s admission of

that defendant' s subsequent statements constitutes a violation of that

defendant' s right to silence and counsel under Washington Constitution, 

Article 1, § 9 & § 22, and United States Constitution, Fifth and Sixth

Amendments? 

3. Does a trial court deny a defendant the right to counsel under

Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22 and United States Constitution, 

Sixth Amendment if it accepts a waiver of counsel that the defendant did. not

knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently enter? 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual History

Between November of 2002 and September of 2006, the Defendant

William Charles Womack lived in an area called Vison Acres in rural

Cowlitz County outside the City of Kelso with his daughter A.W., his

girlfriend Tamilynn Ashley ( Tami), and Tai' s two sons Matt and Nathan. 

A.W. was born on October 1, 1994. RP 432 - 436, 646 -650'. Prior to 2002, 

the defendant and A. W.' s mother divorced and the defendant obtained

custody of A.W. because her mother was not a fit parent. RP 433 -434. 

Indeed, one of A. W.' s consistent fears in life was that she would be forced to

live with her mother. Id. During the time between 2002 and 2006, the

defendant drove truck locally and Tami worked for a title company. RP 646- 

650, 1079 -1080. In 2007, Tazni went to work for the Cowlitz County Sheriff

in the sex offender registration unit. RP 646 -650. 

According to A.W., in late 2002 the defendant started sexually

abusing her on a routine basis. RP 437 -440. The first incident occurred in

his bedroom when nobody else was at home. Id. In some of the incidents he

would have her lay on her back on his bed and he would have penile - vaginal

The record on appeal includes 2, 198 continuously numbered pages
of verbatim reports in 16 separate volumes of pretrial, trial, and post -trial

proceedings. They are referred to herein as " RP [ page fl." 
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intercourse with her until he ejaculated. RP 446 -455. At other times he

would lie down on the bed behind her and have penile - vaginal sex, a position

he called " spooning." RP 470 -474. Sometimes he would rub her pubic

region and insert his fingers in her vagina and sometimes he would penetrate

her vaginally with sex toys. RP 436 -456. On other instances he would lick

her vagina and force her to perform oral sex on hire. RP 446 -453. A.W. also

reported that when she was 10 or 11- years -old and started developing

sexually he would touch her breasts as well as digitally penetrate her vagina

and force her to have intercourse with him. RP 453 -456. 

A.W. remembered that at some point early in the cycle of abuse she

had developed some type of rash on her buttocks and her father would have

her undress so he could put the cream on her. RP 437 -440, He would then

force her to have intercourse with him. Id. She stated that she later found out

that he was rubbing lubricant on her instead of any type of medicated cream. 

RP 632. According to A.W., when the abuse started she would sometimes

try to physically resist. RP 437 -453. However, the defendant would hold her

down by her arms to the point that he would leave bruises. RP 453 -454. 

Eventually she stopped physically resisting. Id. 

A.W. also reported a number of instances in which she was in the

same bed. with her father and Tami while they were having sex with each

other and that on a few ofthese instances the defendant would reach over and
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either rub her pubic region or penetrate her vagina with his fingers. RP 490- 

492. According to Tami, she was aware of what the defendant was doing to

A.W. while she was in the bed when Tami and the defendant were having

sex. RP 664. 

According to A.W., when she was 13 -years -old she told Tami that the

defendant had been sexually molesting her. RP 475 -480. Tami cried upon

hearing this, and said that she should get a gun and kill the defendant. Id. 

Tami reported that she confronted the defendant the next day about what he

was doing to A.W., and the defendant promised her that the abuse would

stop. RP 475 -480, 657-660. A.W. stated that the abuse did stop for a short

while. RP 479 --480. However, a few weeks later when A.W. and her father

had been drinking heavily, her father took her into his bed with Tami and

ordered that she and Tami perform oral sex on him and on each other, which

they did. RP 480 -487. He then used a two - headed dildo and penetrated both

of them with it at the same time. Id. According to A.W., the defendant then

had penile - vaginal intercourse with each one ofthem. Id. A.W. claimed that

the next day Tami texted A.W. that she was sorry for what she had done to

A.W.. RP 490 -492. 

The Cowlitz County Sheriff' s Office later began an investigation of

Tami upon a claim that she had known about the defendant abusing A.W. and

that she had failed to report the abuse. RP 681 -687. After a number of
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interviews Tami admitted that she had failed to report the claims of abuse. 

Id. Eventually Tami confessed that she had indeed participated in a

threesome" with the defendant and A.W., and that she had apologized to

A.W. about what she had done. RP 734. The Cowlitz County Prosecutor' s

Office later brought a charge of Second Degree Rape ofa Child against Tami

and allowed her to plead to a reduced charge of Second Degree Child

Molestation.. RP 674 -675. 

In late 2006 the defendant' s relationship with Tami fell apart and

Tami moved out with her two sons. RP 676. A.W. then stayed with her for

a few weeks, and eventually went to live with the defendant' s parents. RP

679. After A.W. went to live with her grandparents the defendant remarried

and took a job long haul trucking. RP 1080. At some point the police

became aware of A.W.' s allegations of abuse. RP 808 -81. 1. After

interviewing A.W. on a number of occasions, the police obtained a warrant

for the defendant' s arrest. RP 816. The defendant was later arrested on the

warrant while in Illinois and eventually returned to the Cowlitz County Jail, 

where he remained until trial. RP 816 -821, 847. The defendant denied ever

sexually or physically abusing A.W., but did claim that he once walked into

the bedroom to find A.W. and Tami engaged in sexual contact with each

other. RP 1066 -1068. Finally, while lodged in the Cowlitz County Jail the

defendant wrote three letters to Tami threatening that he would expose
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criminal activity on her part if she did not change her testimony at his trial. 

R13 1116- 112 1. 

Procedural History

By information filed October 13, 2010, the Cowlitz County

Prosecutor charged the defendant with one count of first degree rape of a

child, one count of first degree child molestation, and two counts of second

degree rape of a child. RP 1 - 3. The prosecutor later amended this

information and added two more counts of second degree rape of a child and

one count of intimidating a witness. CP 59 -63. This last charge arose after

the state obtained possession of the three letters the defendant wrote to Tarni

threatening to reveal incriminating evidence against her if she did not change

her testimony about what had happened. RP 1116- 1. 121. 

The defendant appeared for arraignment on January 25, 2011, at

which time the court set a pretrial for February 22, 2011 and a trial date for

March 14, 2011. CP 353. At the pretrial, the court set a readiness hearing for

March 3, 2011, which the court later continued to March 1. 0, 2011. CP 354, 

355. On that date the court accepted a speedy trial waiver from the defendant

good until May 15, 2011. CP 10 -11, 357. The court then reset the trial to

May 9, 2011, with a review on May 6, 2011. Id. On May 6, 2011, the parties

again appeared before the court. RP 11 - 17; CP 358. At that time, the

defendant' s attorney moved to continue the trial date on the basis that he
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needed more time to prepare. Id. The defendant objected to any continuance

and insisted upon his right to go to trial on the date set. Id. In spite of the

defendant' s protest, the court found good cause and reset the trial to June 20, 

2011. RP 1. 1 - 13, 1. 4 -17. 

On June 7, 2011, the parties appeared before the court upon the state' s

motion to continue the trial on the basis that two of the state' s witnesses had

a scheduled vacation in Louisiana. RP 18 -23; CP 360. In spite of the

defendant' s vigorous objection, the court again found good cause and reset

the trial to August 1, 2011. Id. On July 26, 2011, the defendant' s attorney

filed a new motion for continuance on the basis that the state was threatening

to add charges of possession of depictions of minors engaged in sexually

explicit conduct and that he needed time to consult with an expert about the

evidence the state claimed supported these potential additional charges. CP

22 -24. Defense council' s affirmation given in support of the motion to

continue noted that the defendant refused to sign a speedy trial. waiver in

support of counsel' s motion. CP 24. 

On August 18, 2011, the parties appeared before the court upon

defense counsel' s motion for a continuance. RP 24 -58; CP 366. At the

beginning of the hearing the defendant insisted upon representing himself if

that was the only way he could get to trial on. the date set and avoid any new

continuances. RP 24 -25. The defendant' s initial statement was as follows: 
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RP 24. 

DEFENDANT: Your Honor, can I say something first? 

JUDGE EVANS: Sure, you want to run it through your Counsel
first and then — 

DEFENDANT: No, that' s alright. At this time, I would like to

fire my Counsel and represent myself. 

At this point the court began a colloquy with the defendant. RP 24- 

28. During that colloquy the defendant made the following response as to

why he wanted to represent himself

JUDGE EVANS: Tell me why you think you would be in a
better position than he to represent yourself, recognizing that he has
got a lot more experience and familiarity with the law than, I' m
assuming you would admit, than yourself. 

DEFENDANT: Oh, of course. One thing I — supposed to have a

speedy trial. I signed a 60 — day waiver, due to the fact that I had
some DNA evidence that I wanted processed that I gave to him

numerous months ago, before March tenth, which I signed that

waiver. It is 102 days later, now, to this date, since I' ve signed. The

end of that waiver' s been up. And he had not had the time to either do
anything with the evidence, and — nor he just does a continuance after

continuance after continuance. I have denied every continuance that' s
been set. On August 2nd I was in front of Stonier, and he said there

would be no more continuances, so they just forced another court date
for two days later, and a continuance was onto the 22nd. I just want

my chance to go to trial. I would be more than happy to represent
myself at this tune. The State' s had over a year to come up with a
case. Obviously, you know, I don' t really think they need any more
time. I' m. ready to just go to trial. 

RP 26 -27. 

Based upon the fact that defendant' s real objection was to the failure
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to get his case to trial in a timely manner, the court initially denied the

defendant' s request to represent himself. RP 27 -28. 

DEFENDANT: I have had eight months in jail and have not had

the privilege to use the law library. So. 

JUDGE EVANS: Okay. Alright. So it looks like there' s been

prior speedy trial waivers filed, and with each speedy trial waiver
that' s filed, generally, the Court engages the person who' s charged
with the crime — 

DEFENDANT: I' ve only signed one. 

JUDGE EVANS: — in a colloquy. And I see that there' s been one
back in March. And so, I think at this point in time, it sounds like

there' s still communication between the parties. There may be some
disagreement on things — how things are proceeding. And I think it' s
also important to recognize that I think that you yourself, Mr. 
Womack, will recognize that by representing yourself you are at a
distinct disadvantage against somebody who' s a trained lawyer, and
who knows the rules and is Familiar with the rules of evidence and
courtroom procedure. So based on that fact and on the fact that
there' s still a working communication — there may be some
disagreement about some things, I think in any representation there' s
probably disagreement about things. So at this point in time I am
going to deny your motion to discharge Mr. Scudder and represent
yourself. 

RP 27 -28. 

At this point the prosecutor objected to the court' s decision, stating

as follows: 

MS. HUNTER: Your Honor, I have some concerns. I don' t have

my usual colloquy with me that typically I have when somebody
wants to represent themselves. 

RP 28. 

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT - 10



Based upon this objection and further argument by the state, the court

adjourned for about 10 minutes, returned and then initiated a new colloquy

with the defendant in which the court reviewed the charges and the maximum

penalties for the charged offenses, as well as the fact that if the defendant

represented himself he would be subject to the rules of evidence. RP 29 -36. 

The court then asked the defendant whether he still wanted to represent

himself after considering all of the difficulties in self-representation. RP 36- 

37. The defendant did not respond in the affirmative to this question.. RP 37. 

Rather, he asked if he could have a new attorney. RP 37. This exchange

went as fdllows: 

RP 37. 

JUDGE EVANS: So, considering the dangers that we' ve talked
about, the disadvantages that we have talked about of representing
yourself, is it still your desire to represent yourself and to give up
your right to be represented by a lawyer? Or do you want to step back
from that position? 

DEFENDANT: Am I allowed to get a different attorney? 

At this point the court told the defendant that they could address that

issue after the court finished its colloquy on self - representation. RP 37. 

Specifically, the court stated. " Let' s finish up with this, and then we can talk

about that." Id. The court then asked a number of follow up questions with

the defendant consistently answering that he wanted to represent himself. R13

37 -42. At this point the court returned to the defendant' s request for a new
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attorney. RP 42. This exchange went as follows: 

JUDGE EVANS: Okay. So, if you were given a new attorney, 
you might have an opportunity to talk to that attorney about the case, 
and do you think that might change your mind? 

DEFENDANT: Possibly, 

JUDGE EVANS: Okay. So, if that' s the ease, do you think you
might want to be represented by an attorney? 

DEFENDANT: At this point, I would just rather, you know, the
attorney, as far as you were saying the, you know, there' s a lot to, you
know, with all. the witnesses and all that. Most of the work' s been
done. I just need to go to trial. You know, I realize that there' s some
definite legal procedures that I need to get hip on, and I would ask
that from now until the trial date that I could use the law library as
much as possible, and I think I' ll be alright. 

RP 42 -43. 

The court then continued with its colloquy, after which the state

interjected that it was worried that the defendant had stated that what he

really wanted was a new attorney. RP 43 -44. Although the defendant

initially stated that he simply wanted to represent himself, the following

exchange then took place. RP 44 -45, 

JUDGE EVANS: Okay. So, with that understanding, again, 
talking about if you had a different attorney, do you think that would
make a difference, that you would be willing to proceed to trial with. 
a different attorney? 

DEFENDANT: I don' t think we have any court appointed
attorneys that are from out of town, do we? 

JUDGE EVANS: Court- appointed attorneys are appointed on a
random basis. Sometimes if there' s conflicts there' s attorneys that
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come from out of the county who represent clients, and it' s just kind
of based on a rotating schedule. 

DEFENDANT: It' s random. I' d rather take my chances with
myself. 

RP 44 -45. 

The court thereafter granted the defendant' s motion to represent

himself. RP 46. After the court granted the defendant' s request, the state

moved to continue the trial. RP 43 -57. The state argued in part that a

continuance was necessary because the state had " some concerns that the

Defendant' s ability to prepare for trial, or [the state' s] ability to provide him

discovery ..." RP 48. In spite of the defendant' s protestations that he

wanted to go to trial on the date set, the court again found good cause, 

granted the state' s motion, and put the case over one week to set a new trial

date. RP 49 -57. On August 25, 2411, the court set a new trial for October

10, 2011. RP 1376; CP 367 -368, 

On September 21, 2011, the defendant filed a written motion to

dismiss for violation of his right to speedy trial under CrR 3. 3. CP 52 -56. 

On October 6, 2011, the parties appeared before the court on the defendant' s

motion and for readiness. RP 59 -121. Following argument of counsel, the

court denied the motion to dismiss. Id. The court also made a finding that

there was insufficient time to hear all of the necessary pretrial motions prior

to the current October 10" trial date. RP 134 -141. As a result, the court reset
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the trial date to November 15, 2012. RP 141. When the defendant objected

and asked for clarification as to whether or not " good cause" justified the

continuance, the court stated: " I' m moving it within the previously found

good cause period." RP 140. On October 27`x, the state informed the defense

and the court that it could proceed to trial a day early on November 14, 2011. 

CP 375 -578. The defense had no objection so the court changed the trial date

to November 14, 2011. Id. 

This case was finally called for trial on November 14, 2011. CP 3 81. 

Prior to starting voir dire, the court held a hearing under CrR 3. 5 to determine

the admissibility of the defendant' s statement to the police following his

arrest. RP 163 -226. During the hearing the state called two police officers

to testify concerning their trip to Illinois to interrogate and transport the

defendant back to Washington. RP 166, 211. The first officer testified to

meeting the defendant in the Grundy County, Illinois jail. RP 167 -168. 

Initially, this officer began the interview by advising the defendant

concerning his Miranda right, which the defendant indicated that he

understood and would waive. RP 169 -170. According to the officers, the

defendant quickly became extremely defensive in answering questions. RP

175. He then made the statement at the beginning of the interview: " Talk to

my attorney. I' m done." RP 174. The first officer' s testimony concerning

this statement went as follows: 
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Q. How would you describe his demeanor at that point, when he
was like, " I' m going to take everything to court?" 

A. It was defensive. It was defensive. 

Q. Same as he was earlier, or a little more intense, or something
different? 

A. He may have been more intense as we went along. 

Q. So after this diatribe against people lying and him being
treated poorly, does he mention the word attorney again? 

A. Yes, he does. 

Q. And how did. that arise? 

A. He said that, " Everyone is lying about me ", and " Talk to my
attorney. I' m done." 

Q. Were those his exact words, " Talk to my attorney. I' m done ?" 

A. Yes, they were. 

Q. And how do you know they were his exact words? 

A. I have it in quotations in my notes. 

RP 174 -175.

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