1. The trial court slid not violate the defendant's time for trial

by granting a continuance so that the State could provide
discovery before the trial date.

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it found the

defendant's statements to law enforcement to be

admissible.

3. The trial court did not violate the defendant's right to
counsel when it found he knowingly, voluntarily, and
intelligently waived that right.

NUIYI1' IiKK l I[iJ:I -C1

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

by both the defendant and Tammy Womack when she was twelve or

thirteen years old. 484 -488, 667 -673. Tammy Womack also testified

about the same night, in which, in addition to ordering that A.W. and

Tammy perform oral sex on him and each other, Womack penetrated them

both himself and with a flesh colored double -ended dildo. 668 -670. Both

A.W. and Tammy Womack testified that the defendant shaved the hair

around his penis and was circumcised. RP 471, 662.

Later, when Womack was in custody, he wrote Tammy Womack a

letter in which he told her to change her story if she wanted it to stay out

8



of the news media. RP 687, Supp. CP. Ex. #59. Further, he said "I have

something in a vacuum sealed bag that is very incriminating in my

possession that I would much rather would stay in my possession until this

is over then it can be given back to you." Supp. CP. Ex. #59. Tammy

Womack assumed he was referring to the dildo because it had been taken

out of her possessions when she had moved. RP 672 -673. When she had

confronted Womack about it missing, he had smirked and said "I might

need it someday." RP 673

A. Womack's trial occurred within the time allowed by
CrR 3.30

Because Womack was brought to trial in accordance with the rules

set forth by CrR 3.3, the time for trial rule was not violated.'` CrR

3.3(a)(1) states: "It shall be the responsibility of the court to ensure a trial

in accordance with this rule to each person charged with a crime." Thus,

the trial court is vested with the responsibility to ensure a trial occurs

according to the totality of the rules set forth by CrR 3.3. For individuals

who are detained in jail, CrR 33(b)(1) states: "A defendant who is

detained in jail shall be brought to trial within the longer of (1) 60 days

z "There is also a right to a speedy trial guaranteed under the Sixth Amendment of the
United States Constitution and under Article I of the Washington State Constitution.
However, Womack has not argued that his constitutional speedy trial rights were
violated.
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after the commencement date specified in this rule, or (ii) the time

specified under CrR3.3(b)(5)."

According to CrR 33(b)(5), if any period is excluded pursuant to

section (e), the allowable time for trial shall not expire earlier than 30 days

after the end of that excluded period. CrR 3.3(e) provides a list of periods

that are excluded in the calculation of time for trial. This list includes both

continuances granted pursuant to section ( f) and unavoidable or

unforeseen circumstances beyond the control of the court or the parties.

CrR 3.3(e)(3) & CrR 33(e)(8). CrR 3.3(f)(2) states:

On motion of the court or a party, the court
may continue the trial date to a specified
date when such continuance is required in
the administration of justice and the

defendant will not be prejudiced in the
presentation of his or her defense. The

motion must be made before the time for

trial has expired. The court must state on

the record or in writing the reasons for the
continuance. The bringing of such a motion
by or on behalf of any party waives that
party's objection to the requested delay.

Thus, when a party makes a motion to continue a trial beyond the 60 -day

time limit of CrR 33 (b)(1) when a defendant is detained in jail, the court

may continue the trial beyond 60 days provided that the continuance is

required by the administration of justice, the defendant will not be

prejudiced in his or her defense, and the motion is made before the time

10



for trial has expired. CrR 3.3(f)(2). The court must also state the reasons

for the continuance. CrR 3.30(2). If these criteria are met, then the

speedy trial rule is not violated when a court continues a case beyond 60

days. See CrR3.3(b)(2)(11)..

Here, Womacic's argument that his speedy trial rights were

violated by the August 18, 2011 continuance fails for two reasons. First,

because Womack did not comply with CrR 3.3(d)(3) procedures for

objecting to the setting of a new trial date, he forfeited his right to object;

his failure to properly object to this issue in the lower court waives this

issue for appeal. RAP 2.5, CrR 3.3(0(3). Second, the trial court did not

abuse it discretion when it continued the trial pursuant to CrR 3.3(#)(2).

1. Because Womack did not move the court to set

the trial within the time limits required under
CrR 3.3(d)(3), he waived his right to object to the
setting of the trial dates.

Because Womack did not comply with the express provisions of

CrR 33(4)(3) in objecting to the trial setting, he lost the right to object.

Because his objection was not preserved in the lower court, he has waived

this issue on appeal. RAP 2.5. CrR 3.3(d) provides the method required

for a party to object to a trial setting. It states:

3 While there were a number of Motions to Continue in this case, Womack only
challenges the State's continuance on August 18, 2011.
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Objection to Trial Setting. A party who
objects to the date set upon the ground that it
is not within the time limits prescribed by
this rule must, within 10 days after the
notice is mailed or otherwise given, move
the court set a trial date within those time

limits. Such motion shall be promptly noted
for a hearing by the moving party in
accordance with local procedures. A party
who fails, for any reason, to make such a
motion shall lose the right to object that a
trial commenced on such a date is not within

the time limits prescribed by this rule.

CrR3.3(d)(3).

Timely objections are required so that, if possible, the trial court

will have an opportunity to fix an error and still satisfy the speedy trial

requirements. State v. Greenwood, 120 Wn.2d 585, 606, 845 P.2d 971

1993). A defendant waives his right to have a case dismissed for

violating the speedy trial court rules when he or she fails to bring a motion

to dismiss before trial. See State v. Thomas, 1 Wn.2d 298, 300, 95 P.2d

1036 (1939). "Azad any party who fails, for any reason, to move for a trial

date within the time limits of CrR 3.3 loses the right to object." State v.

Bobenhouse, 143 Wn. App. 315, 322, 177 P.3d 209 (2004) (citing CrR

3.3(4)(3); State v. Carney, 129 Wn. App. 742, 748, 119 P.3d 922 (2005).

Thus, just as compliance with the rude is required with regard to the time

limits as set forth in CrR 33(b)(1), compliance with the proper method for

objecting to a trial date as set forth in CrR 3.3(4)(3) must also be followed.

12



One instructive case regarding the requirement of making a proper

objection is City of Kennewick v. Vandevgriff, 109 Wn.2d 99, 743 P.2d

811 (1987). Patricia Vandergriff was arraigned for reckless driving and

driving while intoxicated on January 31, 1985. Id. at 100. Initially, her

trial was scheduled for April 1. Id. On March 22, Vandergriff waived her

right to a jury trial. Id. On March 25, the court rescheduled her trial for

May 14, which was more than 90 days after her arraignment had occurred.

Id. Three days later, on March 28, Vandergriff's attorney objected to the

new date by sending a letter to the court clerk stating that pursuant to JCrR

3.08(f)(1) the attorney believed 90 days would run out on May 6. Id.

However, her attorney did not send a copy of the letter to the prosecutor's

office or note the motion onto the Judge's docket. Id. On May 14, when

the case was called for trial, Vandergriff s attorney moved to dismiss and

the district court granted the motion dismissing the case for violating the

speedy trial rule. Id.

4 JCrR was rescinded in 1987 and was replaced by CrRLJ. Former JCrR 3.08 contained
the following language that is substantially similar to that of the current CrR3.3(d)(3):

a] party who obiects to the date set on the ground that it is not within the time ]units
prescribed by this rule must, within 10 days after the notice [of the new trial date] is
mailed or otherwise given, move- that the court set a trial date within those time
limits.

Like CrR 33(0 (3), failure to make such a motion was a waiver of the provisions of this
speedy trial rule. Former JCrR3.080(2). Sec 1 andergriff; 109 Wn.2d at 101.
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The Washington Supreme Court found that the letter was

sufficiently explicit to constitute a motion. Id. at 102. However, because

Vandergriff s attorney failed to serve a copy of this letter to the city

attorney, the motion was invalid. Id. Because Vandergriff did not bring a

proper motion, she waived her right to object under the speedy trial rule

and the case was remanded for a trial on the merits. Id. at 103. It should

be noted that while both JCrR 3.08(f)(1) and CrR 3.3(d)(3) share the

requirement that a party move the court within 10 days for a trial date

within the time limits of the speedy trial rule, CrR 3.3(d)(3) contains the

additional requirement that the moving party promptly note the matter for

a hearing. CrR 3.3(d)(3).

Here, as in Vandergriff, Womack failed to comply with the court

rule for objecting to a trial setting outside of the time limits of CrR 3.3.

After trial date was reset, Womack neither filed a motion to set the trial

within the time limits of CrR 3.3, nor did he note the matter for a hearing.

By failing to comply with CrR 3.3(4)(3), Womack lost his right to object

to the trial date. The record does not reveal the reason Womack failed to

follow the requirements of CrR 33(d)(3), but no natter the reason, the

rule is straightforward: "A party who fails, for any reason, to make such. a

5 "A party who fails, for any reason, to make such a motion shall lose the right to object
that a trial commenced on such a date is not within the time limits prescribed by this
ruie." CrR 3.3(4)(3).
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motion shall lose the right to object that a trial commenced on such a date

is not within the time limits prescribed by this rule." CrR 3.3(d)(3). In

fact, on August 25, 2011, the parties set a new trial date of October 10,

2011. The court asked Womack, "[djo you have a position on that ?"

Womack replied, "I'm — I think that's all right." RP 1376. Womack

neither objected to the trial setting date nor moved within 10 days from

August 25, 2011 to set a different trial date. RP 1372 -1405. Because an

objection was not properly made in the lower court, Womack has waived

this issue for appeal. See State v. Thomas, 1 Wn.2d 298, 300, 95 P.2d

1036 (1939); State v. Greenwood, 120 Wn.2d 585, 606, 845 P.2d 971

1993).

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when

it continued the trial date.

The trial court: did not abuse its discretion when it continued the

trial date after Womack chose to represent himself three days before trial.

T]he decision to grant or deny a motion for a continuance rests

within the sound discretion of the trial court." State v. Downing, 151

Wn.2d 265, 272, 87 P.3d 1169 (2004) (citing State v. Miles, 77 Wn.2d

593, 597 -98, 464 P.2d 723 (1970)). A trial court's grant or denial of a

motion for a continuance will not be disturbed unless there is a showing of

manifest abuse of discretion. State v. Campbell, 103 Wn.2d 1, 14, 691
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P.2d 929 (1984) (citing Miles, 77 Wn.2d at 597 -98). "A court reviewing

an exercise of discretion can find abuse only if no reasonable person

would have taken the view adopted by the trial count." State v.

Henderson, 26 Wn. App. 187, 611 P.2d 1365 ( 1980) (citing State i).

Blight, 89 Wn.2d 38, 40 -41, 569 P.2d 1129 (1977)). A trial court's

decision on a continuance must be judged in consideration of the totality

of the circumstances in each case, particularly the reasons presented to the

trial judge at that time the request is made. See State v. Kelly, 32 Wn.

App. 112, 114 -15, 645 P.2d 1146 (1982).

Here, August 18, 2011, one working day before trial, Womack's

attorney moved to continue the trial date. RP 24. Womack then moved to

fire his attorney. After making that motion, Womack made a motion for

discovery and objected to the continuance. RP 47, 49. He also

acknowledged he did not have much time to prepare, and that he had not

seen the most recent discovery for months. RP 47. In response to the

motion for discovery, the State moved to continue the trial date. The State

explained to the court that because the discovery was over 400 pages in

lengthh they needed until Monday, August 22 to redact portions and

consider protection orders. The State also raised the concern that without

the discovery, Womack would be unable to prepare for trial Monday. RP

48. The court ordered that the discovery was due on August 22 and found
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that that there was good cause for the continuance. The court granted the

continuance for a number of reasons. First, before Womack's attorney

was fired he had moved to continue the trial date because he needed

additional time to hire a computer expert. Because he had done so, some

of the trial witnesses had made other plans. Second, Womack had

requested time in the law library at the jail to prepare for trial. Third,

Womack had made a motion for discovery but would not have it until the

day of trial. Finally, it granted the continuance because Womack was not

quite ready to go to trial... ". RP 50 -51.

By choosing to represent himself, Womack had a right to the

State "s discovery. "In order to ensure a meaningful pro se defense, the

State must allow the defendant reasonable access to legal materials, paper,

writing materials, and. the like." State v. Bebb, 108 Wn.2d 515, 524, 740

P.2d 829 (1987), see generally Bounds v. Sinith, 430 U.S. 817, 828, 97

S.Ct. 1491, 1498, 52 L.Ed.2d 72 (1977) (regarding jailed persons' rights of

access to the courts generally). See also State v. Hartwig, 36 Wn.2d 598,

219 P.2d 564 (1950) (where court appointed counsel for defendant on date

set for trial, counsel was entitled to continuance for reasonable time to

make a complete investigation of both facts and law in order to advise his

client and to prepare adequately and efficiently to present any defenses

client might have to charges against him).
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The court did not abuse its discretion in finding good cause and

granting the continuance in order the allow the "defendant reasonable

access to legal materials, paper, writing materials..." State v. Bebb 108

Wn.2d 515, 524, 740 P.2d 829 (1987). Although Womack objected to the

continuance, he had explained to the court he would not be prepared

without the discovery. Womack cannot justifiably request discovery and

time to prepare for trial, while at the same time object to a continuance of

the trial date. Furthermore, Womack did not argue that he was prejudiced

by the continuance. RP 49 -50. The comment following RPC 3.8 states:

A prosecutor has the responsibly of a
minister of justice and not simply that of an
advocate. This responsibility carries with it
specific obligation to see that the defendant
is accorded procedural justice and that the
defendant is accorded procedural justice and
that guilt is decided upon the basis of
sufficient evidence. "

Given the voluminous discovery, and the deadline imposed by the court, it

was the State's duty to request the continuance as an officer of the court to

help protect the rights of the defendant. The court properly found that

there was good cause for the continuance.
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B. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it

found Womack's Statements to be admissible.

1. The trial court's oral findings of fact and
conclusions of law are sufficient for appellate
review.

Under CrR 3.5(c), the trial court is required to enter written

findings of facts and conclusions of law. A trial court's failure to comply

with this requirement constitutes error, but the error is harmless if the

court's oral findings are sufficient to allow appellate review." State v.

Miller, 92 Wn. App. 693, 703, 964 P.2d 1196 (1995), citations omitted.

We review the trial court's decision after a CrR 3.5 hearing by

determining whether substantial evidence supports the trial court's

findings of fact, and whether those findings support the conclusions of

law." State v. Grogan, 147 Wn. App. 511, 516, 195 P.3d 1017 (2008)

citing State v. Broadaway, 133 Wn. 2d 118, 130 -31, 942 P.2d 363 (1997).

Substantial evidence is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair - minded,

rational person of the truth of the finding.' " State v. Solomon, 114 Wn.

App. 781, 789, 60 P.3d 1215 (2002). "1f substantial evidence in the record

supports the trial court's findings of fact, the findings will be considered

verities on appeal." Miller, 92 Wn. App. at 704, citing State v. Broadaway,

133 Wn. 2d 118, 131, 942 P.2d 363 (1997). The trial court assesses the

credibility of witnesses. State v. Hill, 123 Wn. 2d 641, 646, 870 P.2d 313
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1994). Further, "the court must determine de novo whether the trial court

derived proper conclusions of law' from its findings of fact." Id. (quoting

Stag v. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 1, 9, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997)).

Here, while the court did not enter written findings of fact and

conclusions of law, the error is harmless as the court's oral. findings are

sufficient for appellate review. Womack argues that the absence of

findings of fact and conclusions of law prevents adequate review given the

testimony at the 3.5 hearing that Womack said "Talk to my attorney — I'm

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